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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY
CAMDEN VICINAGE

Megan HENHAFFER a.k.a., :
MeganGRILLO, : Cvil No. 15-8022 (RBK/AMD)

on behalf of herself and all others :
similarly situated : OPINION
Raintiff(s), :
V.

SIMEONE & RAYNOR, LLC, et al.,

Defendant(s).:-

KUGLER, United State®istrict Judge:

Plaintiff Megan Henhaffer.k.a. Megan Grillo, on behalf of herself and all others
similarly situated, brings claims againstf®edants Simeone & Raynor, LLC and |. Dominic
Simeone (“Defendants”) for violations of theiFfaebt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15
U.S.C. § 1692 et seq. This matter is betbeeCourt upon Defendants’ Motion for Judgment on
the Pleadings pursuant to Federal Rule of CivalcBdure 12(c). For theasons set forth in this
Opinion, Defendants’ Motion (Doc. No. 19)&RANTED IN PART.

l. FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiff agreed to pay dues and assessmieritee Courts at Shebridge Condominium
Association (“Associatin”) for use of a residential condominium unit. First Am. Compl. § 20.
Plaintiff purportedly failed tgay all dues and assessments, and the Association assigned the
debt to Simeone & Raynor, a law firm, for the purpose of colleciibff 20, 21. On November

6, 2015, Simeone & Raynor sent a lettePlaintiff in an attempt to collect the debt (“Letter”).
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Id. § 22. The letter was Simeone & Raynditst communication with Plaintifid.  24. The
front page of the letter contained a ledgethef payments outstanding, including assessments,
late charges, attorney’s fees, preparationrandrding fees for a notice of lien claim, and
contract attorney’s feeld. Ex. A. The back of the lettexplained that the Association is
allowed to charge the fees based on thiaBy of the Stonelige Run Condominium
Association (“Bylaws”), Plaintifhas a right to dispute the dehhd the Association may begin
legal proceedings if the amount daenot paid witln thirty days.ld.

Plaintiff alleges that Defelants’ letter violates tHeDCPA and filed a Complaint on
November 12, 2015 bringing claims individuadlyd on behalf of a class (Doc. No. [H). 24—
51. Plaintiff seeks statutory damagattorney’s fees, and codis. J 52-53. On November 23,
2015, Plaintiff filed a First Ameded Complaint (Doc. No. 5). On May 9, 2016, Defendants filed
the present Motion for Judgmeont the Pleadings (Doc. No. 19).

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Where a defendant’s motion is one for judgment on the pleadings pursuant to Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 12(c) armdleges that a plaintiff has failed to state a claim, it is treated
under the same standards as a Rule 12(b)(6) m&amTurbe v. Gov't of V.38 F.2d 427,

428 (3d Cir. 1991) (citations omitted). Under Fet&uale of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), a court
may dismiss an action for failure to statel@m upon which relief can be granted. When
evaluating a motion to dismiss, “courts accdpfagtual allegations as true, construe the
complaint in the light most favorable tcetblaintiff, and determine whether, under any
reasonable reading of the complaint, the plaintiff may be entitled to rélmiler v. UPMC
Shadyside578 F.3d 203, 210 (3d Cir. 2009) (quotiigillips v. Cty. of Alleghenyp15 F.3d 224,

233 (3d Cir. 2008)). A complaint stives a motion to dismiss if it contains sufficient factual



matter, accepted as true, to “state anclen relief that is plausible on its fac&ell Atlantic

Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). It is not for ctsuo decide at this point whether

the non-moving party will succeed on the mebts, “whether they should be afforded an
opportunity to offer evidence support of their claims.lh re Rockefeller Ctr. Props., Inc. Sec.
Litig., 311 F.3d 198, 215 (3d Cir. 2002). While “detdifactual allegationsire not necessary, a
“plaintiff's obligation to providethe grounds of his entitle[mentg relief requires more than

labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not
do.” Twombly 550 U.S. at 555 (internal quotations omittege also Ashcroft v. Ighd56 U.S.
662, 678—79 (2009).

In making this determination, the court conducts a three-part an&@gsiago v.
Warminster Twp.629 F.3d 121, 130 (3d Cir. 2010). Fitsie court must “tak[e] note of the
elements a plaintiff must plead to state a claiih. {quotinglgbal, 556 U.S. at 675). Second, the
court should identify allegations that, “becatisey are no more than conclusions, are not
entitled to the assumption of truthd. (quotinglgbal, 556 U.S. at 679). “[T]hreadbare recitals
of the elements of a cause of action, suppdsteahere conclusory statements,” do not suffice.
Id. at 131 (quotindgbal, 556 U.S. at 678). Finally, “where there are well-pleaded factual
allegations, a court should assume their veraaitythen determine whether they plausibly give
rise to an entitlement for reliefltl. (quotinglgbal, 556 U.S. at 679). This plausibility
determination is a “context-specific task that ieegithe reviewing coutb draw on its judicial
experience and common sendglal, 556 U.S. at 679. A complaint cannot survive a motion to

dismiss where a court can only infer that arolés merely possible rather than plausilbde.



1. DISCUSSION

The FDCPA provides a cause of action to comsrs who have been subjected to “the
use of abusive, deceptive, and unfair debtectilbn practices.” 15 U.6. § 1692(a). A plaintiff
bringing an FDCPA claim nat show that “(1) she is a camser, (2) the defendant is a debt
collector, (3) the defend#a challenged practice involves atteanpt to collect a ‘debt’ as the
Act defines it, and (4) the defdant has violated a provision of the FDCPA in attempting to
collect the debt.Douglass v. Convergent Outsourcin®5 F.3d 299, 303 (3d Cir. 2014).
Defendants here are challenging only the foelément, whether it violated the FDCPA in
attempting to collect a debt from Plaintiff.

Because the FDCPA is a remedialtate, courts construe it broadlyesher v. Law
Offices of Mitchell N. Kay, PG50 F.3d 993, 997 (3d Cir. 2011). Courts should analyze
“[llender-debtor communications potentiallygig rise to claims under the FDCPA” under the
“least sophisticated debtor” standarRthsenau v. Unifund Corb39 F.3d 218, 221 (3d Cir.
2008) (quotingBrown v. Card Serv. Ctrd464 F.3d 450, 454 (3d Cir. 2006)). This is not a
standard of reasonableness, because “a conoation that would not deceive or mislead a
reasonable debtor might still deceiventislead the least sophisticated debt&réwn 464 F.3d
at 454. Although the standard isMoit still “prevents liability for bizarre or idiosyncratic
interpretations of collection notices by presegva quotient of reasonableness and presuming a
basic level of understanding andlimgness to read with careWilson v. Quadramed Cor@25
F.3d 350, 354-55 (3d Cir. 2000) (quotidgited States v. Nat'l Fin. Servs., In68 F.3d 131,
136 (4th Cir. 1996)).

Plaintiff brings FDCR claims against Defendants faiolations of 15 U.S.C. 88 1692g,

1692f, and 1692e. The Court addresses each allegation in turn.



A. Section 1692g

Section 1692g(a) requires treatlebt collector, “in connectiowith the collection of any
debt,” send a written notice tacansumer “[w]ithin five days &kr the initial communication.”
The written notice must contain:

(1) the amount of the debt;
(2) the name of the creditor to whom the debt is owed,;

(3) a statement that unless the consumer, within thirty days after receipt of the
notice, disputes the validity of the debt,any portion thereof, the debt will be
assumed to be valid by the debt collector;

(4) a statement that if the consumer nesithe debt collector in writing within
the thirty-day period that éhdebt, or any portion thergas disputed, the debt
collector will obtain verification of the d or a copy of a judgment against the
consumer and a copy of such verificatior judgment will be mailed to the
consumer by the debt collector and

(5) a statement that, upon the consumer’s written request within the thirty-day
period, the debt collector will provide tkensumer with the name and address of
the original creditor, if diffenet from the current creditor.

15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a). These provisiaosistitute the validation notice.
1. Section 1692g(a)(3)

Plaintiff first argues that thieetter violated 8§ 1692g(a)(3) becauit stated that Plaintiff
was required to notify the debt collectonimiting. Section 1692g(a)(3) does not explicitly
necessitate that the consurdepute the debt in writing. Kieever, the Third Circuit has
interpreted the provision todorporate such a requireme@taziano v. Harrison950 F.2d 107,
112 (3d Cir. 1991). Plaintiff here esdially asks the Court to reje@razianq but the case is
good law and binding precedent. Accordingly, ttoa€ rejects this theory of Plaintiff's §
1692g(a)(3) claim and dismisses it with prejudice.

Plaintiff next asserts that thetter fails to comply with 8§692g(a)(3) because it requires

Plaintiff to not only notify the delatollector she is disputing thiebt but also provide the basis



for the dispute. Section 1692g(g)(8quires only that the consunmovide notice of a dispute.
By writing that Plaintiff’'s notice of dispute must include the basis for the dispute, Defendants
essentially added a requirement to § 1692g(ahg&)Congress did not approve. The Court finds
that such an addition is sufficient bm$or this § 1692g(a)(3)laim to survive.

Plaintiff also argues that thestter improperly stated that Plaintiff must dispute the debt
within thirty days, instead of thir days of receipt of the Letter. The Letter omits “after receipt,”
and does not clarify anywheretime Letter when those thirty daegin to run. Courts in this
District have held similar omissions to noreddss comply with § 1692g)(3) only where the
collection letter clarified the commencement of tiiety-day period in otheparts of the letter.
Ardino v. Lyons, Doughty & Veldhuis, P,@lo. Civ. 11-848 (NLH/KMW), 2011 WL 6257170,
at *8 (D.N.J. Dec. 14, 2011). The same is true in other cir&@#s.Jacobson v. Healthcare Fin.
Servs., InG.516 F.3d 85, 93 (2d Cir. 2008)pnes-Bartley v. McCabe, Weisberg & Conway,
P.C, 59 F. Supp. 3d 617, 643 (S.D.N.Y. 2014). Deferslaedpond that due dates listed on the
front of the letter imply that the thirty daysearalculated from receipthese dates, however,
refer to when late charges, attorney’s fees,@egaration fees are addedhe debt. Nothing in
their phrasing indicates they refer to the sanmty day period as that governing a notice of
dispute. The Court thus findlsat Plaintiff has furnished Hicient evidence to make out a
plausible claim that the omission‘@ffter receipt” viohtes § 1692g(a)(3).

Lastly, Plaintiff contends #t the Letter improperly informs Plaintiff that her right to
dispute the debt is limited togfiuting the debt's amount, rathtban both the debt's amount and
validity. It is not apparent to the Court, nor does Plaintiff address, how the least sophisticated

consumer would interpret disputing a delvididity to capture circumstances outside of



disputing of a debt’'s amounthiis, the Court dismisses this theof Plaintiff's § 1692g(a)(3)
claim with prejudice.

In conclusion, the Court grants the Defemdamotion to dismiss the claims that the
Letter violated 8 1692g(a)(3) in reigug Plaintiff to dispute the de in writing and dispute only
the debt’s amount.

2. Section 1692g(a)(4)

Plaintiff argues that the Lettalso violates § 1692g(a)(4) because it states that
Defendants will provide verificatioof the debt if Plaintiff disputes the debt's amount, rather
than either the debt’s validity or amount. Fog #ame reasons as above, the Court dismisses this
claim with prejudice.

3. Section 1692g(a)(5)

Section 1692g(a)(5) requiresetiollection notice to stateatthe debt collector will
provide the name and addresshad original creditoupon request if the inal and current
creditors are different. ThiSircuit has held that a debt collecis only required to include the
notice in 8 1692g(a)(5) in cases where the oalgémeditor and current creditor differ, because
blanket inclusion of such languag®uld be confusing to consumekgorse v. Kaplan468 F.
App’x 171, 173 (3d Cir. 2012). In this case, beesile original and current creditors are the
same, omission of the language in 8 1692g(a)¢&s not violate the FDCPA. Thus, the Court
grants the requested dismissattaé claim with prejudice.

4. Section 1692g(b)

Section 1692g(b) indicates tH@]ny collection activitiesand communication during the

30-day period may not overshadow or be inconsistithtthe disclosure of the consumer’s right

to dispute the debt or request the name andeaddif the original crédr.” A validation notice



must not be “overshadowed @ontradicted by accompanying megss from the debt collector.”
Grazianqg 950 F.2d at 111. Whether a validation notecevershadowed or contradicted is
judged under the least sophastied consumer standaf@hprio v. Healthcare Revenue Recovery
Grp., LLC 709 F.3d 142, 149 (3d Cir. 2013). The Third Girdas found a cadlction letter to
violate § 1692g(b) where it demanded paymentiwitbn days and threatened immediate legal
action if payment was not made on the frorgggaand printed the lidation notice on the
reverse sideGraziang 950 F.2d at 109. Where the disputed language and validation notice were
printed in the same font, size, and color, and appeared close in proximity, however, the letter was
found to comply with 8§ 1692g(bWilson 225 F.3d at 356. Further, a demand or threat of
immediate legal action if payment was not madhin a certain amount of time constituted
language that is overshadowingimconsistent, but presenting tbptions of paying the debt and
avoiding further action versus notifying the ealior of a dispute dhe debt was validd.

Plaintiff argues that the validation nodi was overshadowed and contradicted by
statements that the amount must be paid idiately to avoid thexpense of potential legal
proceedings and a lawsuit may commence yhpent is not made within thirty days.he Court
finds that these messages do onershadow or contradict theliation notice. The validation
notice appears in the same typeface as the contested language, and on the same page; indeed, it
precedes the contested language. The Lditesrmore closely resembles the letteéWitsonthan
Grazina Further, the Court does nairtstrue the reference to legation to constitute a threat:

the Letter requests that thensumer pay the amount due immediately to avoid expenses that

! pPlaintiff also argues that statements thatrfiléimust dispute the di in writing, provide the
basis for the dispute, and limit the disputéht® amount of the debt were overshadowing or
inconsistent messages. These arguments ateahiye of Plaintiff's claims under § 1692g, and
the Court does not find that they fornetbasis for a claim for relief under § 1692e.
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will incur “if” legal proceedings are instituted édistates that the Association “may” begin legal
proceedings if it receives noyraent within 30 days. However, such language only appears
following a discussion of Plaintif§’ alternative choice afisputing the debt, and a consumer is
“bound to read collection nogs in their entirety.Campuzano-Burgos v. Midland Credit
Mgmt., Inc, 550 F.3d 294, 299 (3d Cir. 2008). Plaintiff asks the Court to find the message a
threat because the Letter is from a law firm, citBrgssley v. Liebermawhich opines that a
debt collection letter on attoey letterhead conveys autitgrand credibilty. 868 F.2d 566, 570
(3d Cir. 1989). Even viewing the Letter wiglithority and credibility, however, does not
transform it from discussion of a possible futungdait into a threat, in light of the conditional
language and its proximity todtexplanation of Plaintiff's \alation rights. The Court thus
holds that the least sophistiedtdebtor would not be inducéaloverlook hestatutory rights
based on the Letter and dismisses Pldis® 1692g(b) claim with prejudice.

B. Sections 1692e and 1692f

Section 1692e prohibits the usk“any false, deceptive, anisleading representation or
means in connection with the collection afyalebt” and provides a non-exhaustive list of
behaviors that would violatedhprohibition. Section 1692f prdiits the use of “unfair or
unconscionable means to collect or attempmtoiéect any debt” and also provides a non-
exhaustive list of behaviors that would viédhe provision. One suefiolation listed under §
1692f is the collection of interest, fees, charge expenses incidtl to the principal
obligation, unless such amountigpressly authorizelby the agreementeating the debt or
permitted by law. 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(1).

Plaintiff argues that the Letter violatg8§ 1692e and 1692f by stating the Association

“would have the right” taollect interest, attorney’s feesydacosts. The Bylaws state that the



Board at its option shall have the right to impasterest at the maximum rate permitted by law
and may add reasonable attorney’s fees plus rabkonosts as allowable by law. Def.’s Answer
Ex. A, art. VI, 8§ 8. Plaintiff argues that the Bdaimly has the power to seek interest, reasonable
attorney’s fees, and costs, and the Board mayaw¢ opted to exele that authority in

Plaintiff's case. Because the Anded Complaint alleges that thegociation lacked the right to
or does not intend to exesel that right, Plaintiff reasons, tlgosontentions must be presumed to
be true. Plaintiff misstates the standard ofew. For the purposes of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion,
the Court assumes all plausible facts to be.t€Conclusory allegations do not garner the
presumption of truth. Here, Plaintiff has futmegl no facts supporting iéssertions that the
Association lacked the right sssess interest, attorney’s feasd costs, or that it had no
intention to do so. Furthermore, Defendants pragf@dence of the Association’s Bylaws which
appear to directly contradiB®faintiff’'s position. Phintiff's § 1692e and 1692f claims regarding
interest, attorney’s fees, andst® are clearly insufficient undére Rule 12(b)(6) standard, and
the Court dismisses the claim without prejudice.

Plaintiff pleads an additional violation ofl%92e: that the Letter is misleading as to
when the Association can begin legal proceedaygsnst Plaintiff. The Bylaws give the Board
the power to enforce the Bylaws’ provisions e@urt action. Def.’s Answer Ex. A, art. I1X, 8§ 1.
The Letter states that the Assatadn can file suit “aer 90 days,” but does not clarify when the
ninety days begin. Further, the Letter includesilasequent statement that the Association may
begin legal proceedings within thirty day$iaintiff does not pay the amount due. The Letter
states different dates for when the Associatian commence suit to collect the debt and is
ambiguous regarding how those dates are calculated. These statements could be confusing to the

least sophisticated consumer. Defendants in brigfs explain that the ninety days commence
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from the time of default, and the thirty dayfereto the validation tim@eriod under the FDCPA.
That distinction, however, is not clear from thdteeitself. As such, th€ourt finds Plaintiff has
properly pleaded a claim for relief under § 1692«ti@ parts of the Letter that discuss when
legal action can begin.

Lastly, Plaintiff argues in her Reply Brief ththe Letter’s calculation déate fees violates
8 1692e. This argument appears nowhere in Hiammended Complaint, and “[a] plaintiff
may not amend his complaint througlg@ments in his brief in oppositionVicMahon v.
Salmond573 F. App’x 128, 135 (3d Cir. 2014). As sutite Court finds that this theory of
Plaintiff's is not properly pleaded.
V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, DefendaMstion for Judgment on the Pleadings is

GRANTED IN PART.

Dated:  10/27/2016 s/ Robert B. Kugler

ROBERTB. KUGLER

Lhited State District Judge
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